



COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY J O U R N A L



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

Function, molecular mechanisms, and therapeutic potential of bacterial HtrA proteins: An evolving view



Yingjie Song^a, Yitao Ke^a, Mei Kang^{b,*}, Rui Bao^{a,*}

^a Center of Infectious Diseases, State Key Laboratory of Biotherapy, West China Hospital, Sichuan University and Collaborative Innovation Center, Chengdu, China ^b Department of Laboratory Medicine, West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 25 September 2021 Received in revised form 24 November 2021 Accepted 4 December 2021 Available online 8 December 2021

Keywords: HtrA PDZ domain Virulence factor Regulation mechanism Dual signal activation Drug development

ABSTRACT

Members of the high temperature requirement A (HtrA) protein family are widely distributed amongst prokaryotic and eukaryotic species. HtrA proteins have ATP-independent dual chaperone-protease activity and mediate protein quality control. Emerging evidence indicates that HtrA family members are vital for establishing infections and bacterial survival under stress conditions. Bacterial HtrA proteins are increasingly thought of as important new targets for antibacterial drug development. Recent literature suggests that HtrA protein AlgW from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* has distinct structural, functional, and regulatory characteristics. The novel dual-signal activation mechanism seen in AlgW is required to modulate stress and drug responses in bacteria, prompting us to review our understanding of the many HtrA proteins found in microorganisms. Here, we describe the distribution of HtrA gene orthologues in pathogenic bacteria, discuss their structure–function relationships, outline the molecular mechanisms exhibited by different bacterial HtrA proteins in bacteria under selective pressure, and review the significance of recently developed small molecule inhibitors targeting HtrA in pathogenic bacteria.

© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	40
2.	Distribution and evolution of HtrA family proteins in pathogenic bacteria	41
3.	The versatile roles exhibited by HtrA proteins in bacteria	42
4.	Structure characteristics and activity relationships of HtrA proteins	43
5.	Activity regulation of HtrA proteins	. 45
6.	Drug development targeting HtrA proteins	46
7.	Challenges and future perspectives	47
	CRediT authorship contribution statement	47
	Declaration of Competing Interest	48
	Acknowledgement	48
	References	48

1. Introduction

* Corresponding authors.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2021.12.004

Highly conserved HtrA (<u>high-temperature requirement A</u>) proteins, also known as Deg (degradation of periplasmic proteins), were first identified in *Escherichia coli* in 1989 [1]. They are envelope-associated heat shock serine proteases found in organisms ranging from prokaryotes to humans [2,3]. The chaperone and proteolytic functions of HtrAs are required for the folding and maturation of secreted protein. HtrA family members consist of a serine-protease domain and at least one C-terminal regulatory PDZ domain [3,4]. All HtrA proteins can assemble into oligomers,

E-mail addresses: kangmei@sina.com (M. Kang), baorui@scu.edu.cn (R. Bao).

^{2001-0370/© 2021} The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

which range in size from trimers to hexamers to 12-mers and even 24-mers [5,6]. HtrA proteins usually reside in a catalytically inactive state, which can be converted into a reversible activated state by substrate allostery or by non-substrate peptide binding mediated by the PDZ domain [4,7,8].

Eukaryotic HtrA proteins, such as human HtrA1-3, have key roles in many cellular physiological and pathological processes, including cancer, neurodegeneration, arthritis, age-related macular degeneration, and familial ischemic cerebral small-vessel disease [9,10]. In prokaryotes, HtrA family members are crucial to bacterial survival and adaptation to environmental change [11–15]. Pathogenic bacteria use HtrA proteins to overcome external stresses. The loss of HtrA function correlates with reduced virulence and restricted bacterial growth under stress. Evidence indicates that HtrA family members are responsible for alginate production, biofilm formation, morphological transformation, and can confer antibiotic resistance [16,17]. Certain HtrA proteins can be secreted from the cell to facilitate bacterial invasion [18]. Their significant

physiological functions, particularly those in virulence and antibiotic resistance, suggests that members of the HtrA family constitute attractive drug targets [10,19–22].

Previous reviews of the HtrA proteins have surveyed their biochemical properties, localization, functions in specific species, and their roles in different disease states [2,9,10,23,24]. Given the wealth of recent studies delineating new activation mechanisms and virulence functions of HtrA proteins in pathogens [16,25], we will seek to evaluate how the composition, diversity, and assembly processes of bacterial HtrAs impinge on their roles in bacterial resistance and pathogenesis, highlighting the increased interest in HtrA inhibitors as novel antimicrobial agents.

2. Distribution and evolution of HtrA family proteins in pathogenic bacteria

E. coli DegS, DegP, and DegQ proteins are the best studied members of the HtrA family [26]. All of these proteins are essential for



Fig. 1. Domain assembly and gene distribution of HtrA proteins in pathogenic bacteria. (A) Schematic domain diagram of HtrA proteins from pathogenic bacteria. The protease domain is colored orange, the PDZ domain is colored cyan, and L_A is colored green. SP stands for signal sequence. TM stands for transmembrane region. (B) A phylogenetic tree of HtrA proteins with an approximate divergence time. Gram-positive bacteria are colored purple and Gram-negative red. MYA: million years ago.

protein quality control in the *E.coli* periplasmic space [2]. They represent the two major structural subdivisions within the family: DegP/Q and DegS. DegP/Q proteins contain one serine-protease domain and two PDZ domains, and their N-terminal signal peptides are able to mediate cytoplasmic membrane translocation [23]. DegS proteins have a single C-terminal PDZ domain. Their N-terminal transmembrane segments are able to mediate inner-membrane anchoring (Fig. 1A).

DegP/Q and DegS homologues are evident in most well-studied Gram-negative pathogenic bacteria [10], including Burkholderia cenocepacia, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Legionella pneumophila, Porphyromonas gingivalis, and Salmonella Typhimurium. In Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Gram-positive pathogens, including Listeria monocytogenes, Staphylococcus aureus, and Streptococcus pneumonia, only membrane anchored HtrAs are present, which are similar to DegS (Fig. 1A).

Despite low overall sequence identity, HtrA proteins can be identified relatively using the PDZscape database [27]. Making use of HtrA protein sequences from 25 representative pathogenic bacteria, we undertook a phylogenetic analysis and Ancestor Sequence Reconstruction (ASR) [28]. As expected, DegP/Q-like HtrAs cluster together (Fig. 1B). The resulting phylogenetic tree indicates that DegS-like HtrAs are present in Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria, implying that HtrAs existed before the divergence of Gram-negative and Grampositive bacteria. It also suggests HtrAs may have additional functions that are more complex in Gram-negative bacteria, since such bacteria have greater periplasmic complexity, and that HtrA evolutionary information may have been lost in Gram-positive bacteria.

Part of the conserved protease domain, the functional LoopA (L_A), has distinctly different lengths and sequences in the DegP/Q group and the DegS groups (Fig. 1A), suggesting this feature may be useful when classifying DegP, DegQ, and DegS sequences and structures [3,6,29,30]. Since the L_A loop is an essential regulatory element of HtrA proteins [16,31], the sequence and structural diversity of this region may be useful when exploring HtrAs function and evaluating structure–function relationships within the DegP/Q and DegS subgroups.

3. The versatile roles exhibited by HtrA proteins in bacteria

The main functions of HtrAs are thought to be regulating stress responses and controlling protein quality in Gram-negative periplasm [32,33]. Recent work suggests HtrA proteins are also responsible for many other vital processes, particularly infection (Fig. 2) [16,34]. *E. coli* DegP was originally identified as a serine protease capable of cleaving misfolded proteins at Val-X or Ile-X peptide motifs at 37–45 °C, with protease activity enhanced after membrane interaction [11,12]. Later studies indicated that DegP could switch between chaperone and ATP-independent protease activities in a temperature-dependent manner, with both activities crucial to rescuing the cell from stress-induced lethality [35].

The role of DegP in virulence has also been observed in many bacteria. *E. coli* DegP is needed for the efficient assembly of



Fig. 2. Schematic diagram of bacterial HtrA functions. In the RIP pathway, misfolded proteins activate DegS-like protein and/or disrupt the RseB-like:RseA-like complex. DegS-like and YaeL-like proteins, together with the ClpXP complex, process the RseA-like protein initiating stress-response gene expression. In the periplasm, DegQ-like and DegP-like proteins both have chaperone activity under normal conditions. DegP-like protein also has protease activity, degrading CpxP-misfolded protein complexes and activating CpxR-mediated transcription under stress conditions. In some pathogenic bacteria, secreted HtrA protein typically participates in bacterial colonization and host invasion. LPS: lipopolysaccharide; OMP: outer membrane protein.

bundle-forming pili (BFP). BFP is critical for host-cell attachment [36]. Mutants of *S. flexneri* DegP could impair intercellular spread, probably due to the role of DegP in regulating IcsA surface presentation [37]. Recently, DegP has been shown to correlate with acid resistance required for food-borne enteric pathogens to pass through the human stomach [38]. *P. aeruginosa* MucD is believed to be involved in biofilm formation and also influences host neutrophil responses [39–41].

Prior work has demonstrated that DegP is regulated by the CpxAR two-component regulatory system consisting of CpxA, CpxR, and CpxP [42]. The CpxRA pathway induces bacterial responses by sensing extra-cytoplasmic stress, such as altered pH, the presence of copper ions, or the over production of envelope protein, leading to enhanced transcription of stress genes, such as HtrA [43]. CpxR acts as a response regulator and CpxA acts as a sensor kinase, which is suppressed by the CpxP dimer [44]. When lipoprotein transport is defective or periplasmic protein folding is overloaded, the CpxP/CpxA complex dissociates as the misfolded proteins bind to the interface of CpxP. The outer-membrane anchored lipoprotein NIpE then interacts with the periplasmic domain of CpxA to trigger its kinase activity [45]. CpxA autophosphates His151, shifting this phosphate group to Asp51 of CpxR. Subsequently, phosphorylated CpxR acts as a transcription factor, facilitating specific gene transcription [46]. Complexes of CpxP with misfolded protein are finally degraded by DegP [47].

When compared to DegP, DegQ has similar substrate specificity, moderate sequence identity, and a shorter loop L_A [48]. DegQ was initially identified as a substitute for DegP in protein quality control. It was able to rescue the temperature sensitive phenotype, although viability was not affected significantly in DegQ mutants [49]. DegQ is not essential for cell survival at high temperatures. This indicates DegQ mainly, but not completely, compensates for the absence of DegP under heat stress [49]. Several studies show that DegQ is associated with pH variation and has higher chaperone activity than DegP. Low pH induces remodeling of the DegQ particle. The null *degQ* mutant affected the growth of *E. coli* in a low pH environment. Taken together these observations indicate that DegQ may play an important role in acid resistance rather than temperature sensitivity [50]. However, a detailed physiological role for DegQ remains elusive [14].

DegS was also identified as a DegP homologue [49]. However, DegS could not completely rescue temperature-sensitive phenotypes of DegP mutants. The loss of DegS results in a small-colony phenotype [49]. Later, DegS was shown to act as an envelope stress sensor able to cleave the periplasmic segment of RseA, which activates RpoE (known as $\sigma^{\text{E}})$ [51]. The Regulated Intramembrane Proteolysis or RIP pathway is a well-characterized regulatory network in bacteria, activated by misfolded envelop proteins, which transduces stress signals from the environment (Fig. 2) [51]. Under normal conditions, another periplasmic protein (RseB) acts as a negative regulator of σ^{E} activation by binding RseA to prevent DegS degradation [52,53]. Oxidative stress, heat shock, or secretion stress leads to the periplasmic aggregation of misfolded proteins. The interaction of RseB and RseA is disrupted by free LPS. This causes the C-terminal domain of RseA to be exposed, allowing DegS cleavage and the activation of σ^{E} . The transcription factor σ^{E} then interacts with RNA polymerase to promote transcription of several regulators, including HtrA, DegP, RpoE, and RpoH [54]. Moreover, the ResB homologue MucB could sense lipid molecules and be degraded by DegS homologue AlgW in P. aeruginosa; something which has yet to be observed in E. coli [52].

DegS is also activated allosterically by the C-terminal YxF sequence of misfolded outer membrane proteins (OMPs), initiating a proteolytic cascade through the cleavage of the periplasmic domain of RseA, allowing the subsequent activation of σ^{E} [7]. Recent work indicates *P. aeruginosa* DegS homologue AlgW is a novel HtrA

protease activated by both peptide and lipid signals [16]. HtrA proteins may thus directly sense off-pathway LPS and OMPs, transmitting outer-membrane stress signals to downstream pathways.

In Gram-positive bacteria, HtrAs have also been shown to participate in virulence regulation and biofilm formation [12,55]. Recently, HtrA inactivation has been shown to facilitate the resistance of Gram-positive pathogens such as *S. aureus* and *S. pneumoniae* to antibiotics that target cell walls [17,56]. Whereas in *M. tuberculosis*, HtrA (RV1223) can block the toxicity of a cell wall amidase and thus maintain homeostasis [57]. In the Grampositive spore-producing bacterium *Bacillus anthracis*, strains with *htrA* gene deletions exhibited increased sensitivity to stress, downmodulation of the bacterial S-layer, and attenuated virulence [58].

HtrA proteins can be translocated to the cell surface or into the extracellular environment, where secreted HtrAs often participate in bacterial colonization or host invasion [26,59]. The mechanism underlying extracellular HtrA localization has been proposed to consist of (a) anchoring at the bacterial surface; (b) secretion into the extracellular matrix; and (c) transport through the OMV [26].

Direct HtrA involvement in bacteria-host interaction has been observed experimentally in both Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria. In *B. anthracis*, HtrA is anchored at the bacterial surface and is probably secreted into the extracellular matrix after auto cleavage [60]. HtrA proteins have also been detected in *H. influenzae*, *H. pylori*, *C. jejuni*, and *A. actinomycetemcomitans* [10]. A recent study indicates that HtrA proteins in *H. pylori* are related to the risk of gastric cancer and a subsequent study suggested a time-specific host-microbe relationship probably exists in some gastrointestinal pathogens [61,62]. In Gram-negative bacteria, OMVs seem to be an effective means of translocation for virulence-associated HtrAs. However, the detailed mechanism of HtrA release remains unclear [26].

Bacterial pathogens can penetrate the epithelial barrier via tight junction proteins targeted by extracellular HtrA [34,63,64]. Ecadherin is an essential cell adhesion protein and tumor suppressor in host epithelia tissues. It is able to mediate cell-cell contact and regulate the permeability of the epithelial barrier [65]. Ecadherin degradation by HtrA facilitates colonization and pathogen transmigration during infection. This conjecture has been verified in certain gastrointestinal bacteria, including H. pylori and C. jejuni [10]. Recent studies indicate that the PDZ1 domain rather than the PDZ2 domain of H. pylori HtrA is necessary for full cleavage activity and growth under stress conditions. Truncated H. pylori HtrA proteins retain protease activity and can damage E-cadherin-based adherens junctions [66]. Claudin-8 and occludin are also substrates for HtrA proteins [63,64]. Since similar epithelial cells exist in the lung, pneumonia pathogens using HtrA-mediated E-cadherin cleavage to penetrate the blood-air barrier should be investigated. Extracellular HtrA proteins should thus be targeted by antimicrobial drugs in order to treat bacterial infections and help combat bacterial drug resistance.

4. Structure characteristics and activity relationships of HtrA proteins

The structure of HtrA proteins comprises a funnel-like homotrimer, consisting mainly of protease domains. The protease domain of all HtrA proteins is structurally conserved. It belongs to the S1C protease fold, part of the SA clan [24]. It comprises two β -barrels flanked by α -helices (Fig. 3A and 3B). The Ser–His–Asp catalytic triad lies in a crevice between the two β -barrels and is surrounded by activation loops L₁-L₃, L_D, and L_A [13]. It is known that L_A plays important roles in HtrA function, including sensing temperature change, mediating higher oligomerization, and regulating substrate access to the active site [31].



Fig. 3. Structure characteristic of HtrA. (A) Overall structure of *E. coli* DegS monomer (1SOZ) [5]. DegS consists of a PDZ domain (cyan) and a protease domain (yellow). The catalytic triad (His96, Asp126, Ser201), surrounded by activation loops L₁, L2, L3, LD, and LA, is shown using yellow sticks. (B) Superposed protease domains from *E. coli* DegP (blue), *E. coli* DegS (periwinkle blue), *P. aeruginosa* AlgW (green), and *M. tuberculosis* HtrA1 (orange). L_A is rendered using a protein cartoon. (C) Superposed PDZ domains from *E. coli* DegP (blue), *L. fallonii* in DegQ (cyan), *P. aeruginosa* AlgW (green), *M. tuberculosis* HtrA1 (orange), and *S. pneumoniae* HtrA (yellow).



Fig. 4. Sequence alignment of HtrA protease domain. 43 HtrAs from 25 representative pathogens divide into four groups: DegP-like, DegQ-like, and DegS-like Subgroup I and II. Considering the space constraints, we selected a representative sequence from each group for next sequence alignment. The experimental secondary structure of *E. coli* HtrA is included at the top of the sequence. Loop L_A is shown in a green box, the carboxylate-binding loop $(X_1-\Phi_1-G-\Phi_2)$ in a blue box with a cyan background, and the catalytic triad (His, Asp, Ser) is colored red on a yellow background.

 L_A loops from different HtrA subgroups have different lengths. As shown in Fig. 4, L_A loops from the DegP/Q group are much longer than the corresponding loops from DegS proteins. The DegS group can be further subdivided into L_A -long (represented by *P. aeruginosa* AlgW), L_A -short (represented by *E. coli* DegS), and L_A -medium (represented by Gram-positive *S. pneumoniae* HtrA).

Y. Song, Y. Ke, M. Kang et al.

Considering that the flexibility of *P. aeruginosa* AlgW L_A is tightly associated with activation processes [16], extended L_A segments in L_A -long and L_A -medium DegS-like HtrA proteins may have extra functions.

Unlike the conserved protease domain structure, HtrA PDZ domains exhibit greater sequence variation and higher conformational plasticity [33]. The PDZ domain, a widespread protein module of 80-100 amino acids, regulates protein-protein interactions and mediates the assembly of protein complexes that initiate signal transduction [67]. Comparison of PDZ domains from HtrA proteins indicates overall structure similarity, but also local structural differences (Fig. 3C). In the S. pneumonia HtrA PDZ domain, five β -strands form a β -sandwich flanked by two α -helices. This is similar to the canonical PDZ fold and belongs to Class II PDZ domains. The PDZ1 domain from *E. coli* DegP comprises two anti-parallel β -strands and two α -helices. Earlier reports concluded that the hydrophobic pocket or " $X_1 \Phi_2 G \Phi_2$ " loop in the HtrA PDZ domain specifically recognizes and accommodates the C-terminus of target peptides (Fig. 4). The additional PDZ2 domain in DegP/Q alters the domain orientation of PDZ1 and maintains protein integrity, and is also critical for the assembly of HtrA proteins into higher oligomeric states [68].

5. Activity regulation of HtrA proteins

HtrA has only limited activity in its resting state. Several factors including pH, temperature, substrate binding, or allosteric effectors, such as peptides from outer membrane proteins, are required for activation [8]. It has been shown that binding to substrate proteins is necessary for efficient conversion of inactive trimeric or hexameric E. coli DegP to large active cage-like oligomers. However, cage assembly and proteolytic activation can be uncoupled, and the allosteric activation of inactive trimers into proteolytically active forms by substrate binding is an intrinsic property of DegP [69]. Structures of DegP₆ indicate that L_A loops extend outwards, forming β -strand interactions with L_A-L_A corner pillars. Loop L_A also interacts with L_1 and L_2 to block the reaction center. Reduced L_A-L_A interactions could lead to $DegP_6$ disassembly and the formation of $DegP_{12}$ or $DegP_{24}$, resulting in exposed active catalytic triads (Fig. 5A and 5B). Zarzecka et al. observed the conversion of higher molecular weight oligomeric forms of C. jejuni HtrA into lower molecular weight isoforms after full cleavage of the substrate, which confirms the dynamic interconversion of diverse oligomeric forms [25].



Fig. 5. Oligomerization and activation mechanism of DegP and DegQ. (A) Oligomer and domain structures of DegP₆ (1KY9) [3], DegP₃ (3OTP) [77], DegP₁₂ (2ZLE) [78], and DegP₂₄ (3CS0) [78]. On binding substrate, DegP changes from an inactive hexamer to a transient trimer, primed to form 12-mer or 24-mer cages. (B) Subunit interaction in inactive DegP₆ (pink) and active DegP₁₂ (green). Mechanistically important loops L1, L2, and LD are highlighted, and residues comprising the catalytic triad (Asp 105, His 135, and Ala 210) are represented by sticks. (C) Ribbon diagram of inactive DegQ₃ (3STI) and active DegQ₁₂ (3STJ) [15]. The trimer is stabilized by packing between protease domains and the four trimers forming a pyramidal 12-mer DegQ. (D) Subunit interactions in active DegQ (cyan) and inactive DegQ (violet). Active site residues His82, Asp112, and Ser187 are represented by sticks.

DegP may also function in a temperature-dependent manner, becoming activated during heat stress [3,31,35]. However, the underlying mechanism of DegP activation by temperature remains unclear. By using a combination of hydrodynamics and NMR spectroscopy methodologies, Harkness *et al.* found that DegP formed oligomeric assemblies of trimer molecules in the absence of substrate. Such trimers were sensitive to temperature and shifted toward larger oligomeric assemblies including 18-mer cage and 24-mer cage as the temperature increased [35].

A similar mechanism is seen in *E. coli* DegQ, although no hexameric resting states has been detected, probably due to its shorter L_A [14]. In the presence of substrate, four DegQ trimers form a 12-mer complex, enclosing an approximately 50 Å internal cavity (Fig. 5C). Electron density corresponding to loops L_2 and L_3 are not well defined in DegQ₃, probably due to high loop flexibility. This conformational variability in the active site leads to the catalytic triad being improperly located. In DegQ₁₂, substrate-bound PDZ1 domains interact tightly with L_3 to stabilize the active site conformation; L_2 is also well-defined, facilitating formation of a functional catalytic site (Fig. 5D).

Unlike DegP/Q, most DegS-like HtrAs are inner membraneanchored proteases, which form trimers *in vivo* (Fig. 6A) [5]. Structural analysis indicates that DegS trimerization is mediated solely by the N-terminus and residues β 7- β 12 of the protease domain. When *E. coli* DegS is in an inactive state, loop L₃ is trapped by the PDZ domain. The hydroxyl of Ser201 interacts with Asn94, which prevents nucleophilic attack of His96, causing inhibitory contacts between PDZ and protease domains (Fig. 6B).

OMP binding by the PDZ domain induces several conformational changes including L_3 release by PDZ, ring flipping of residue His198, and reorientation of Ser201, His96, and Asp126 into an active configuration (Fig. 6B). The PDZ domain is inhibitory in DegS: a mutant protein without PDZ exhibits cleavage activity in the absence of the OMP peptide [7]. However, we recently showed the PDZ domain of *P. aeruginosa* AlgW forms inter-domain contacts to convert and maintain an active catalytic triad [16]. One explanation suggests different inter-domain interaction networks exist in DegS versus AlgW. In AlgW, L_3 maintains interactions with PDZ after activation and L_A exhibits joint angle shifts between active and inactive states (Fig. 6C) [16]. Moreover, *P. aeruginosa* AlgW is the first example of a dual activator-binding DegS-like HtrA where peptide and lipid enhance cleavage activity synergistically [16]. As the synergistic binding of peptide and lipid is a normal feature of many PDZ-containing proteins [70], we propose that such a peptide/lipid-regulatory mechanism may exist in other HtrA proteins.

6. Drug development targeting HtrA proteins

Bacterial proteases are promising targets for the development of new antibiotics. Synthetic inhibitors of ClpXP proteases are potential agents active against *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Staphylococcus aureus* [71,72]. In a recent review, Xue *et al.* briefly summarized the importance of HtrA in bacteria and drug development [73]. We see the HtrA protease as an interesting drug target due to its size, vital biological functions, highly conserved sequence and structure, and the presence within the PDZ domain of a clearly identifiable and highly specific binding site.

A key example is the secreted Helicobacter pylori HtrA protein. Perna et.al. used fragment-based de-novo design to identify novel lead compounds able to inhibit HtrAs [74]. Further studies identified compounds active in vivo able to inhibit proliferation and migration of H. pylori (Fig. 7A). Bongard et al. reported that modified pyrazolo[1,5-a]-1,3,5-triazines were potential E. coli DegS inhibitors [19]. They demonstrated these compounds could repress the outer membrane stress response and act synergistically with antibiotics in E. coli (Fig. 7A). These inhibitors lost activity in DegS Δ PDZ strains, suggesting they primarily target PDZ domains. JO146 [Boc-Val-Pro-Val^P(OPh)₂] is a peptide inhibitor of *Chlamydia* trachomatis HtrA. Irreversible analogues of JO146 showed inhibitory activity and are considered potential anti-chlamydial drugs (Fig. 7A) [20,73]. Modifications to the N-cap of these inhibitors only slightly alter their antibacterial activities, suggesting routes to future optimization.

There are two distinct strategies for HtrA inhibitors design: directly targeting the active site or binding the PDZ domain to repress HtrA activation. Most inhibitors contain three components



Fig. 6. Activation mechanisms of DegS and AlgW. (A) Ribbon diagram of inactive DegS (PDB: 1TE0) [13], active DegS (PDB: 1SOZ) [5], inactive AlgW (PDB: 7CO7), and active AlgW (PDB: 7CO5) [16]. Both DegS and AlgW are inner membrane proteases and function as a trimer *in vivo*. The trimer has each subunit colored differently. (B) Subunit interaction in active DegS (green) and inactive DegS (yellow). Magnified view of L₂ moving between active and inactivate states. (C) Subunit interaction in active AlgW (blue) and inactive AlgW (pink). Different form of DegS, where subdomain movement is mainly concentrated in L_A (magnified view).



Fig. 7. HtrA Drug development. (A) Structure of representative inhibitors of HtrA from *H. pylori, E. coli,* and *Chlamydia trachomatis*. (B) Schematic diagram of the Abz-peptidyl-pNA fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) protocol used for HtrA. Anthraniloyl group fluorescence is quenched by pNA and can be released by HtrA peptide cleavage. Increased fluorescence that can then be monitored using a multiskan spectrum microplate. Enzyme activity curves reflect the effects of small molecule inhibitors on HtrAs.

and are similar in size, for example JO146, which was based on tripeptide VPV. As both protease and PDZ domains can bind short peptides, polypeptide analogues may generate large compound libraries for HtrA screening.

The bottleneck for HtrA inhibitor development is establishing appropriate and efficient high throughput screening (HTS). A sensitive Abz-peptidyl-pNA fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) protocol can quantify the activity of HtrA inhibitors using an *in vitro* assay (Fig. 7B) [16,75,76]. The quenched fluorescent peptide substrate comprises Abz (fluorogenic group), peptides with cleavage sites, and pNA (P-nitroaniline), a known fluorescence quencher. After HtrA cleavage, fluorescence is determined from the absorbance measured at 420 nm ($\lambda ex = 310$ nm, $\lambda em = 420$ n m), allowing development of a high-volume HTS (Fig. 7B).

7. Challenges and future perspectives

Due to the high mortality arising from both emerging hospitalacquired and community-acquired infections, bacterial diseases have recently gained much attention. Because of their prevalence in prokaryotes and their roles in external stress survival, HtrA proteins are considered interesting targets for the development of antimicrobial agents. However, the screening and development of HtrA inhibitors has just begun and their precise mechanisms of action remain unclear. Many bacterial HtrA proteins are not yet well defined. Their structural and functional diversity needs further study.

HtrA proteins have many roles: stress survival, signal transduction, biofilm formation, and as direct invasion factors. Targeting HtrA in different bacteria could give rise to selective bacteriostatic and inhibition efficiency effects. Avoiding nonspecific binding to human HtrA proteins and other side effects due to off-target activity in cells, tissues, and different host microbiomes is also challenging. This may require studying distinct structure characteristics and regulatory mechanisms within and between prokaryotes and humans. Secreted HtrAs could be used to assay specific immune activity when detecting bacterial infection in clinical trials. By combining HTS with molecular docking, it may be possible to identify new inhibitors of HtrA rapidly and efficiently.

Despite limited success hitherto, HtrA proteins and their inhibitors show remarkable promise for the development of new antimicrobial drugs. While considerable additional research is still required, as outlined here, the future of this discipline promises much of societal value.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Yingjie Song: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing-review & editing. **Yitao Ke:** Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing-review & editing. **Mei Kang:** Funding acquisition. The Investigation, Project administration, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization,

Writing-original draft. **Rui Bao:** Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition. Investigation, Project administration, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft. All authors participated in Writing-review & editing and agreed to the final manuscript.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgement

The work was financially supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grants 81871615 and 81670008).

References

- Lipinska B, Fayet O, Baird L, Georgopoulos C. Identification, characterization, and mapping of the Escherichia coli htrA gene, whose product is essential for bacterial growth only at elevated temperatures. J Bacteriol 1989;171 (3):1574–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.171.3.1574–1584.1989</u>.
- [2] Clausen T, Kaiser M, Huber R, Ehrmann M. HTRA proteases: regulated proteolysis in protein quality control. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2011;12 (3):152–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3065.
 [3] Kroier T, Garrido-Franco M, Huber R, Ehrmann M, Clausen T, Crystal structure
- [3] Krojer T, Garrido-Franco M, Huber R, Ehrmann M, Clausen T. Crystal structure of DegP (HtrA) reveals a new protease-chaperone machine. Nature 2002;416 (6879):455–9.
- [4] Krojer T, Sawa J, Huber R, Clausen T. HtrA proteases have a conserved activation mechanism that can be triggered by distinct molecular cues. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2010;17(7):844–52.
- [5] Wilken C, Kitzing K, Kurzbauer R, Ehrmann M, Clausen T. Crystal structure of the DegS stress sensor: How a PDZ domain recognizes misfolded protein and activates a protease. Cell 2004;117(4):483–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00454-4</u>.
- [6] Hizukuri Y, Oda T, Tabata S, Tamura-Kawakami K, Oi R, Sato M, et al. A structure-based model of substrate discrimination by a noncanonical PDZ tandem in the intramembrane-cleaving protease RseP. Structure 2014;22 (2):326–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2013.12.003</u>.
- [7] Walsh NP, Alba BM, Bose B, Gross CA, Sauer RT. OMP peptide signals initiate the envelope-stress response by activating DegS protease via relief of inhibition mediated by its PDZ domain. Cell 2003;113(1):61–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00203-4</u>.
- [8] Singh N, Kuppili RR, Bose K. The structural basis of mode of activation and functional diversity: a case study with HtrA family of serine proteases. Arch Biochem Biophys 2011;516(2):85–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.abb.2011.10.007</u>.
- [9] Zurawa-Janicka D, Skorko-Glonek J, Lipinska B. HtrA proteins as targets in therapy of cancer and other diseases. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2010;14 (7):665–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1517/14728222.2010.487867</u>.
- [10] Skorko-Glonek J, Zurawa-Janicka D, Koper T, Jarzab M, Figaj D, Glaza P, et al. HtrA protease family as therapeutic targets. Curr Pharm Des 2013;19:977–1009. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/13816128130603</u>.
- [11] Fu X, Wang Y, Shao H, Ma J, Song X, Zhang M, et al. DegP functions as a critical protease for bacterial acid resistance. FEBS J 2018;285(18):3525–38. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1111/febs.14627</u>.
- [12] Tuomanen EI, Jones CH, Bolken TC, Jones KF, Zeller GO, Hruby DE. Conserved DegP protease in gram-positive bacteria is essential for thermal and oxidative tolerance and full virulence in Streptococcus pyogenes. Infect Immun 2001;69 (9):5538–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.9.5538-5545.2001</u>.
- [13] Zeth K. Structural analysis of DegS, a stress sensor of the bacterial periplasm. FEBS Lett 2004;569:351–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2004.06.012</u>.
- [14] Bai X-C, Pan X-J, Wang X-J, Ye Y-Y, Chang L-f, Leng D, et al. Characterization of the structure and function of Escherichia coli DegQ as a representative of the DegQ-like proteases of bacterial HtrA family proteins. Structure 2011;19 (9):1328–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2011.06.013</u>.
- [15] Sawa J, Malet H, Krojer T, Canellas F, Ehrmann M, Clausen T. Molecular adaptation of the DegQ protease to exert protein quality control in the bacterial cell envelope. J Biol Chem 2011;286(35):30680–90. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M111.243832</u>.
- [16] Li T, Song Y, Luo L, Zhao N, He L, Kang M, et al. Molecular Basis of the Versatile Regulatory Mechanism of HtrA-Type Protease AlgW from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. MBio 2021;12:e03299–e3320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ mBio.03299-20</u>.
- [17] Peters K, Schweizer I, Hakenbeck R, Denapaite D. New Insights into Beta-Lactam Resistance of Streptococcus pneumoniae: Serine Protease HtrA Degrades Altered Penicillin-Binding Protein 2x. Microorganisms 2021;9:1685. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9081685</u>.

- [18] Hoy B, Löwer M, Weydig C, Carra G, Tegtmeyer N, Geppert T, et al. Helicobacter pylori HtrA is a new secreted virulence factor that cleaves E-cadherin to disrupt intercellular adhesion. EMBO Rep 2010;11(10):798–804. <u>https://doi. org/10.1038/embor.2010.114</u>.
- [19] Bongard J, Schmitz AL, Wolf A, Zischinsky G, Pieren M, Schellhorn B, et al. Chemical validation of DegS as a target for the development of antibiotics with a novel mode of action. ChemMedChem 2019;14(11):1074–8. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cmdc.201900193</u>.
- [20] Hwang J, Strange N, Phillips MJA, Krause AL, Heywood A, Gamble AB, et al. Optimization of peptide-based inhibitors targeting the HtrA serine protease in Chlamydia: Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of pyridone-based and N-Capping group-modified analogues. Eur J Med Chem 2021;224:113692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113692.
- [21] Wessler S, Schneider G, Backert S. Bacterial serine protease HtrA as a promising new target for antimicrobial therapy? Cell Commun Signal 2017;15:1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-017-0162-5</u>.
- [22] Raju RM, Goldberg AL, Rubin EJ. Bacterial proteolytic complexes as therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2012;11(10):777-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>nrd3846</u>.
- [23] Hansen G, Hilgenfeld R. Architecture and regulation of HtrA-family proteins involved in protein quality control and stress response. Cell Mol Life Sci 2013;70(5):761-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1076-4</u>.
- [24] Clausen T, Southan C, Ehrmann M. The HtrA family of proteases: implications for protein composition and cell fate. Mol Cell 2002;10(3):443–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00658-5</u>.
- [25] Zarzecka U, Grinzato A, Kandiah E, Cysewski D, Berto P, Skorko-Glonek J, et al. Functional analysis and cryo-electron microscopy of Campylobacter jejuni serine protease HtrA. Gut Microbes 2020;12(1):1810532. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1080/19490976.2020.1810532</u>.
- [26] Backert S, Bernegger S, Skórko-Glonek J, Wessler S. Extracellular HtrA serine proteases: an emerging new strategy in bacterial pathogenesis. Cell Microbiol 2018;20(6):e12845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cmi.v20.610.1111/cmi.12845</u>.
- [27] Doshi J, Kuppili RR, Gurdasani S, Venkatakrishnan N, Saxena A, Bose K. PDZ scape: a comprehensive PDZ-protein database. BMC Bioinf 2018;19:1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-018-2156-8.
- [28] Thornton JW. Resurrecting ancient genes: experimental analysis of extinct molecules. Nat Rev Genet 2004;5(5):366–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1324.</u>
- [29] Kim D-Y, Kim K-K. Structure and function of HtrA family proteins, the key players in protein quality control. BMB Rep 2005;38(3):266-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.5483/BMBRep.2005.38.3.266</u>.
- [30] Meltzer M, Hasenbein S, Mamant N, Merdanovic M, Poepsel S, Hauske P, et al. Structure, function and regulation of the conserved serine proteases DegP and DegS of Escherichia coli. Res Microbiol 2009;160(9):660–6. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.resmic.2009.07.012</u>.
- [31] Figaj D, Gieldon A, Polit A, Sobiecka-Szkatula A, Koper T, Denkiewicz M, et al. The LA loop as an important regulatory element of the HtrA (DegP) protease from Escherichia coli: structural and functional studies. J Biol Chem 2014;289 (22):15880–93. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.532895.
- [32] Laskowska E, Kuczyńska-Wiśnik D, Skórko-Glonek J, Taylor A. Degradation by proteases Lon, Clp and HtrA, of Escherichia coli proteins aggregated in vivo by heat shock; HtrA protease action in vivo and in vitro. Mol Microbiol 1996;22:555–71. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1996.1231493.x.
- [33] Pallen MJ, Wren BW. The HtrA family of serine proteases. Mol Microbiol 1997;26(2):209-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.5601928.x.</u>
- [34] Abfalter CM, Schubert M, Götz C, Schmidt TP, Posselt G, Wessler S. HtrAmediated E-cadherin cleavage is limited to DegP and DegQ homologs expressed by gram-negative pathogens. Cell Commun Signal 2016;14:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-016-0153-v.
- [35] Harkness RW, Toyama Y, Ripstein ZA, Zhao H, Sever AlM, Luan Q, et al. Competing stress-dependent oligomerization pathways regulate selfassembly of the periplasmic protease-chaperone DegP. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2021;118. 10.1073/pnas.2109732118.
- [36] Vogt SL, Nevesinjac AZ, Humphries RM, Donnenberg MS, Armstrong GD, Raivio TL. The Cpx envelope stress response both facilitates and inhibits elaboration of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli bundle-forming pilus. Mol Microbiol 2010;76:1095–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/i.1365-2958.2010.07145.x</u>.
- [37] Purdy GE, Hong M, Payne SM. Shigella flexneri DegP facilitates IcsA surface expression and is required for efficient intercellular spread. Infect Immun 2002;70(11):6355-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.70.11.6355-6364.2002</u>.
- [38] He D, Zhang M, Liu S, Xie X, Chen PR. Protease-mediated protein quality control for bacterial acid resistance. Cell Chem Biol 2019;26(1):144–150.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2018.10.014.
- [39] Mochizuki Y, Suzuki T, Oka N, Zhang Y, Hayashi Y, Hayashi N, et al. Pseudomonas aeruginosa MucD protease mediates keratitis by inhibiting neutrophil recruitment and promoting bacterial survival. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2014;55(1):240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.13-13151</u>.
- [40] Hay ID, Schmidt O, Filitcheva J, Rehm BHA. Identification of a periplasmic AlgK–AlgX–MucD multiprotein complex in Pseudomonas aeruginosa involved in biosynthesis and regulation of alginate. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2012;93 (1):215–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3430-0</u>.
- [41] Huang Q, Yang J, Li C, Song Y, Zhu Y, Zhao N, et al. Structural characterization of PaFkbA: A periplasmic chaperone from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 2021;19:2460–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. csbj.2021.04.045</u>.
- [42] Danese PN, Snyder WB, Cosma CL, Davis LJ, Silhavy TJ. The Cpx two-component signal transduction pathway of Escherichia coli regulates transcription of the

gene specifying the stress-inducible periplasmic protease. DegP. Genes Dev 1995;9(4):387–98.

- [43] López C, Checa SK, Soncini FC, Silhavy TJ. CpxR/CpxA controls scsABCD transcription to counteract copper and oxidative stress in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. J Bacteriol 2018;200(16). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ IB.00126-18</u>.
- [44] Buelow DR, Raivio TL. Cpx signal transduction is influenced by a conserved Nterminal domain in the novel inhibitor CpxP and the periplasmic protease DegP. J Bacteriol 2005;187(19):6622–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/</u> JB.187.19.6622-6630.2005.
- [45] Delhaye A, Laloux G, Collet J-F, Brun YV. The lipoprotein NlpE is a Cpx sensor that serves as a sentinel for protein sorting and folding defects in the Escherichia coli envelope. J Bacteriol 2019;201(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ JB.00611-18</u>.
- [46] Humphreys S, Rowley G, Stevenson A, Anjum MF, Woodward MJ, Gilbert S, et al. Role of the two-component regulator CpxAR in the virulence of Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium. Infect Immun 2004;72 (8):4654-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.72.8.4654-4661.2004.</u>
- [47] Isaac DD, Pinkner JS, Hultgren SJ, Silhavy TJ. The extracytoplasmic adaptor protein CpxP is degraded with substrate by DegP. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2005;102 (49):17775–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0508936102</u>.
- [48] Wang X, Zhao D, Gao L, Zhang W, Lu X. Cage-like polyhedrons of DegQ from Cytophaga hutchinsonii show stable proteolytic activity and strong chaperone activity. Biochem Eng J 2020;159:107585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bei.2020.107585</u>.
- [49] Waller PR, Sauer RT. Characterization of degQ and degS, Escherichia coli genes encoding homologs of the DegP protease. J Bacteriol 1996;178(4):1146–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.4.1146-1153.1996</u>.
- [50] Sawa-Makarska JZ. Structural and functional studies on the regulation of the protease-chaperone function of DegP and DegQ from Escherichia coli 2008. 10.25365/thesis.509.
- [51] Ades SE. Control of the alternative sigma factor σE in Escherichia coli. Curr Opin Microbiol 2004;7(2):157–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2004.02.010</u>.
- [52] Li T, He L, Li C, Kang M, Song Y, Zhu Y, et al. Molecular basis of the lipid-induced MucA-MucB dissociation in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Commun Biol 2020;3 (1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-01147-1</u>.
- [53] de Dios R, Santero E, Reyes-Ramírez F. Extracytoplasmic Function σ Factors as Tools for Coordinating Stress Responses. Int J Mol Sci 2021;22:3900. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms22083900</u>.
- [54] Missiakas D, Mayer MP, Lemaire M, Georgopoulos C, Raina S. Modulation of the Escherichia coli sigmaE (RpoE) heat-shock transcription-factor activity by the RseA, RseB and RseC proteins. Mol Microbiol 1997;24:355–71. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1046/J.1365-2958.1997.3601713.X</u>
- [55] Chao Y, Bergenfelz C, Sun R, Han X, Achour A, Hakansson AP. The serine protease HtrA plays a key role in heat-induced dispersal of pneumococcal biofilms. Sci Rep 2020;10:1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-80233-0</u>.
- [56] Liu P, Hao Z, Liu M, Niu M, Sun P, Yan S, et al. Genetic mutations in adaptive evolution of growth-independent vancomycin-tolerant Staphylococcus aureus. J Antimicrob Chemother 2021;76:2765-73. 10.1093/jac/dkab260.
- [57] Wu KJ, Boutte CC, loerger TR, Rubin EJ. Mycobacterium smegmatis HtrA blocks the toxic activity of a putative cell wall amidase. Cell Rep 2019;27 (8):2468-2479.e3, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.celrep.2018.12.063</u>.
- [58] Israeli M, Elia U, Rotem S, Cohen H, Tidhar A, Bercovich-Kinori A, et al. Distinct contribution of the HtrA protease and PDZ domains to its function in stress resilience and virulence of Bacillus anthracis. Front Microbiol 2019;10. <u>https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.0025510.3389/fmicb.2019.00255.s001</u>.
- [59] Suleman L. Extracellular bacterial proteases in chronic wounds: a potential therapeutic target? Adv Wound Care 2016;5(10):455–63. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1089/wound.2015.0673</u>.
- [60] Chitlaru T, Zaide G, Ehrlich S, Inbar I, Cohen O, Shafferman A. HtrA is a major virulence determinant of Bacillus anthracis. Mol Microbiol 2011;81:1542–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07790.x.

- [61] Yeh Y-C, Kuo H-Y, Chang W-L, Yang H-B, Lu C-C, Cheng H-C, et al. H. pylori isolates with amino acid sequence polymorphisms as presence of both HtrA-L171 & CagL-Y58/E59 increase the risk of gastric cancer. J Biomed Sci 2019;26:1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-019-0498-9</u>.
- [62] Yu L-C-H, Wei S-C, Li Y-H, Lin P-Y, Chang X-Y, Weng J-P, et al. Invasive Pathobionts Contribute to Colon Cancer Initiation by Counterbalancing Epithelial Antimicrobial Responses. Cell Mol. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2021.08.007</u>.
- [63] Harrer A, Bücker R, Boehm M, Zarzecka U, Tegtmeyer N, Sticht H, et al. Campylobacter jejuni enters gut epithelial cells and impairs intestinal barrier function through cleavage of occludin by serine protease HtrA. Gut Pathog 2019;11(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13099-019-0283-z</u>.
- [64] Sharafutdinov I, Esmaeili DS, Harrer A, Tegtmeyer N, Sticht H, Backert S. Campylobacter jejuni serine protease HtrA cleaves the tight junction component claudin-8. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2020;10.
- [65] Van Roy F, Berx G. The cell-cell adhesion molecule E-cadherin. Cell Mol Life Sci 2008;65:3756–88. 10.1007/s00018-008-8281-1.
- [66] Zarzecka U, Matkowska D, Backert S, Skorko-Glonek J. Importance of two PDZ domains for the proteolytic and chaperone activities of Helicobacter pylori serine protease HtrA. Cell Microbiol 2021;23:. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ AEM.01711-07</u>e13299.
- [67] Kim E, Sheng M. PDZ domain proteins of synapses. Nat Rev Neurosci 2004;5 (10):771-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1517</u>.
- [68] Kim KI, Park S-C, Kang SH, Cheong G-W, Chung CH. Selective degradation of unfolded proteins by the self-compartmentalizing HtrA protease, a periplasmic heat shock protein in Escherichia coli. J Mol Biol 1999;294 (5):1363-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/imbi.1999.3320</u>.
- [69] Kim S, Sauer RT. Cage assembly of DegP protease is not required for substratedependent regulation of proteolytic activity or high-temperature cell survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2012;109(19):7263–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1204791109</u>.
- [70] Gallardo R, Ivarsson Y, Schymkowitz J, Rousseau F, Zimmermann P. Structural diversity of PDZ-lipid interactions. ChemBioChem 2010;11(4):456–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.200900616</u>.
- [71] Ju Y, He L, Zhou Y, Yang T, Sun Ke, Song R, et al. Discovery of novel peptidomimetic boronate ClpP inhibitors with noncanonical enzyme mechanism as potent virulence blockers in vitro and in vivo. J Med Chem 2020;63(6):3104–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.imedchem.9b01746</u>.
- [72] Yang Y, Zhu Y, Yang T, Li T, Ju Y, Song Y, et al. Inhibiting Mycobacterium tuberculosis ClpP1P2 by addressing the equatorial handle domain of ClpP1 subunit. BioRxiv 2019;713214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/713214</u>.
- [73] Xue R-Y, Liu C, Xiao Q-T, Sun Si, Zou Q-M, Li H-B. HtrA-family proteases of bacterial pathogens: pros and cons for their therapeutic use. Clin Microbiol Infect 2021;27(4):559–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2020.12.017</u>.
- [74] Perna AM, Rodrigues T, Schmidt TP, Böhm M, Stutz K, Reker D, et al. Fragmentbased de novo design reveals a small-molecule inhibitor of Helicobacter pylori HtrA. Angew Chemie 2015;127:10382–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ ange.201504035</u>.
- [75] Bernegger S, Brunner C, Vizovišek M, Fonovic M, Cuciniello G, Giordano F, et al. A novel FRET peptide assay reveals efficient Helicobacter pylori HtrA inhibition through zinc and copper binding. Sci Rep 2020;10(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>s41598-020-67578-2</u>.
- [76] Imani M, Mohajeri N, Rastegar M, Zarghami N. Recent advances in FRET-Based biosensors for biomedical applications. Anal Biochem 2021;630:114323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ab.2021.114323</u>.
- [77] Kim S, Grant R, Sauer R. Covalent linkage of distinct substrate degrons controls assembly and disassembly of DegP proteolytic cages. Cell 2011;145(1):67–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.024</u>.
- [78] Krojer T, Sawa J, Schäfer E, Saibil HR, Ehrmann M, Clausen T. Structural basis for the regulated protease and chaperone function of DegP. Nature 2008;453 (7197):885–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07004</u>.